NETWORK RAIL - PASSENGERS AND FREIGHT

Environmental analysis, market audit and strategic recommendations

Bogdan Ciocoiu BEng (Hons) - Strategic Marketing and Communications - MBA - University of Hertfordshire - December 2016 - <u>bogdan.ciocoiu@pmunit.com</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Network Rail - PASSENGERS AND FREIGHT	
Environmental analysis, market audit and strategic recommendations	1
Table of Contents	2
Introduction	4
About Network RaiL	4
Macro-environmental Factors	4
Political	4
Public Sector body	4
Brexit	4
Government stimulus	5
Environment	5
Environmental impact	5
Environmental responsibility	5
Climate change	5
Electrification	5
Social	6
Metropolitan congestion	6
Increase of population	6
Technological	6
Research and Development ("R&D")	6
ICT trends	6
QoS framework applications	6
Legal	7
Consent management	7
Reduce public subsidy	7
Access for All ("AfA")	7
Economic	7
Demand increase	7
Decreasing track replacement cost per mile	7
Substantial penalties	7
Competition	8
SWOT	8
Strengths (internal)	8

Weaknesses (internal)	8
Opportunities (external)	8
Threats (external)	8
Recommendations	10
Training, research and development	10
Civil engineering works	10
Centralised independent refund system	10
Joint exercise between key stakeholders	10
References	12
Annexes	14

INTRODUCTION

Network Rail ("NR") claims that UK will witness an increase in demand of rail use by up to 100% for passenger trains and 90% for freight trains by 2041 (National Audit Office, 2015).

This paper analyses Network Rail's external and internal environments, produces a marketing audit and provides strategic recommendations, in relation to the company statement regarding the increase in demand.

ABOUT NETWORK RAIL

According to National Audit Office ("NAO"), NR owns and maintains 20,000 miles of track across the UK whilst employing 35,500 staff and with a revenue covering 68% of current operational costs (National Audit Office, 2015).

The Government have invested £25bn in a set of upgrades scheduled for 2013-2019 and have also planned a £34bn investment to facilitate the construction of High Speed 2 ("HS2") (Network Rail, 2015).

NR's main sources of revenue are: franchised track access and grant income (90%), freight revenue and property rental income (<2%) (National Audit Office, 2015).

MACRO-ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Political

Public Sector body

NR was declared a public sector body on 1/Sep/2014, meaning it is now subjected to a higher level of scrutiny from bodies such as the Parliament, Office of Rail and Road ("ORR") and The Secretary of State for Transport (Network Rail, 2014).

NR have retained the freedom to manage their operational and commercial objectives, provided their decisions fall within the regulatory and control frameworks (Department of Transport, 2014) (Annex 4).

Brexit

NR's claim about the doubled increase in demand was released before the Brexit referendum result in favour of leaving the EU. The Prime Minister's (Theresa May) full support for the result (Steven Swinford, 2016) (Annex 5) provides insurance that the UK will seek to leave the EU.

Although the Government have yet not provided details about the implementation of Brexit, it is expected to have a legal barrier which removes the freedom of travel for any EU member into the UK.

This raises the question of sustainability and the need to still increase the capacity to facilitate a potential double increase of demand, in the next 25 years.

Government stimulus

A study carried out in 2014 shows the passive influence which government has on members of the public, in all decisions made of a political nature, through which members of the public are encouraged to use public transport (Marti-Henneberg, 2014).

This questions the factors considered behind the authorisation of the government's support for HS2 and whether these factors were realistic or of an idealistic nature.

Environment

Environmental impact

Civil works do have an impact on the environment in terms of noise, vibration, dust and waste.

Therefore, a number of assessments are required prior to commencing works under Health and Safety Act, Department of Transport, Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and others (Annex 8, Annex 9), and after the completion of various restoration schemes can be setup (Keating, 2015) (Annex 10).

These assessments and mitigation measures are also legal requirements and increase the project costs substantially.

Environmental responsibility

NR have implemented the Safety & Sustainable Development ("S&SD") (Network Rail, 2013) function in 2013 and alongside the existing Safety, Health & Environment ("SSE") function, are reviewing Supplier Quality Assurance Requirements (Network Rail, 2011) to make sure suppliers are also considering environmental responsibility in their actions.

These efforts substantially increase the costs for projects producing assets that impact the environment i.e. manufacturing wooden sleepers. The less-intrusive option involves concrete sleepers, which increases transport and installation costs.

Climate change

Climate change brings a specific set of risks such as track buckling, frozen points/crossings, ice damaging pantographs, track flooding, etc. (Annex 1) which require new innovative means of risk avoidance.

The research behind the mitigation measures and applying them require a considerable investment beyond the basic extension cost (Network Rail, 2015).

Electrification

Pressure groups and Government are emphasising electrifying sections of the UK rail infrastructure that still require diesel trains (Network Rail, 2015) (Annex 21).

The current Control Period 5 contains elements of work which refers to the electrification of North-West, Great Western route, Cardiff and Midland Main Line area and several others (Network Rail, 2015). The initiatives involve installation of Overhead Line Equipment alongside the track and involve substantial investments.

Metropolitan congestion

The increased road congestion in large metropolitan areas in UK, requires road users to choose alternative transport routes such as the use of trains (Charlie Bibby, 2016), (Annex 6), (Annex 7).

Whilst the government may argue that investing in rail infrastructure projects will result in more users commuting by train, the long duration of such projects raises questions about the expected short terms improvement effects.

Increase of population

Statistics show an increase in the UK population between 2000 and 2016 from 58mil to 65mil, an increase in density (people/km²) from 78.8% to 81.7% and an explicit increase in the urban UK population from 46mil to 53mil.

The demographic argument supports the need for rail infrastructure upgrades to provide adequate means of travel and increased capacity.

Technological

Research and Development ("R&D")

Over 40 UK institutions including 6 Universities (Network Rail, 2013) (Annex 13) are involved in research rail-specific processes, using new technology to improve the use of composite materials, the wheel-rail interface with respect to wear (Dodgson, 2014), detection of track failure, improving signaling aspects, etc.

Whilst the rail sector is being represented within a number of institutions in terms of research and development, the impact from these developments will affect people mid-long term basis and implementing elements of innovation will be costly given the size of the rail network (National Audit Office, 2015).

ICT trends

Research suggests that ICT trends which include the use of WIFI, passenger information points ("PIS") and infotainment screens, CCTV equipment, etc. become required to meet current user expectation levels (Crown, 2015) (Annex 14).

It's also evident that an element of comfort is expected when using laptops/tablets whilst commuting, which determines commuter's decisions to choose rail instead of other modes of transport (Jay Saw, 2015).

QoS framework applications

Nicholson, Kirkwood, Roberts and Schmid (2015) have created a system to simulate and benchmark performance using simulation software tools, comparison of timetables and visual tools to observe delays, whilst using real operational data with digital representations; which can be extremely productive if used by Train Operator Companies ("TOCs")

Legal

Consent management

Managing listed building, bridges, stations (Department for Communities, 2015) substantially increases project costs through identifying more expensive means to achieve the same outcome with minimal impact to the building's structure or architecture(Annex 15).

Reduce public subsidy

In 2013 NR set the objective to reduce public subsidy by selling un-utilised buildings and land (Network Rail, 2014). The company claimed in 2016 that by 2020 over 12,000 homes are to be built and released for use through local administration (Rail Technology Magazine, 2016).

Research doesn't show what actual steps were taken between 2013 and 2016. However at the end of 2019, NR will move from Control Period ("CP") 5 to CP6 (Network Rail, 2014) and will be required to produce transparency on the above progress.

Access for All ("AfA")

AfA is a £37mil project (Annex 17) (Annex 18) designed to upgrade 135 NR stations (Department of Transport, 2011) to provide access for disabled or elderly people or passengers with strollers (Network Rail, 2011) or large baggage. The upgrade involves the installation of lifts or electric ramps and upgraded power supplies.

A mean average shows an investment value of \sim £274,000 per station including designing and constructing the appropriate facilities.

Economic

Demand increase

National Audit Office (2015) claim that by 2041 there will be an increase in demand of 100% for passengers and 90% for freight trains. However, it does not provide the reasoning behind the forecast or if Network Rail has plans or the means to support the increase in demand.

Office of Rail Regulation (2013) claimed in 2013 an increase of 14% passenger demand by 2018 and 22% increase for freight demand by the same year. However, ORR relies on governmental support to provide confidence and encouragement in determining users of the rail.

Decreasing track replacement cost per mile

When comparing North American Railroads manufacturing costs, pressure is put on Network Rail to identify new methods to decrease replacement costs for 1 mile of track (Rail Konsult, 2012).

Substantial penalties

Engineering works' overruns may lead to NR being fined with substantial penalties - NR avoided a fine of £14mil for the overrun at Kings Cross at Christmas 2015 (Moore, 2015).

COMPETITION

NR's competitor is Highways England ("HE"), making 5 times more freight transports than NR, transporting almost double passengers per km, with an infrastructure twice larger in value, yet requiring 3 times less maintenance costs (National Audit Office, 2015).

HE has an competitive advantage in terms of less staff required, lower operational costs and higher infrastructure value, making the key factors for questioning ORR's forecast of having the rail passenger and freight demand doubled by 2041.

HE's popularity is higher within the academic sector as modules specific to the structure of roads, gradients and maintenance techniques are taught in UK (London South Bank University, 2016), whilst NR has only reached NVQ Level 3 in form of apprenticeship programmes in Westwood Development Centre (Jaga Heating, 2015).

SWOT

Strengths (internal)

Rail transport is not affected by congestion therefore arrival times can be predicted unless train delays or cancellations take place.

20,000 miles of track fully functional (National Audit Office, 2015) in normal maintenance regime, meaning any upgrades such as electrification can be planned and installed as per normal possession times without affecting the public (Butcher, 2016).

Weaknesses (internal)

Research shows a substantial difference between the number of employees 35,000 (National Audit Office, 2015) and the total number of personnel engaged including contractors 80,000 (Network Rail, 2013) (Annex 13).

Civil works are currently delivered during night time or large possessions i.e. Christmas, Easter and May bank Holidays.

Opportunities (external)

Engaging partnerships between Government, Trade Unions, Network Rail and TOCs to identify and address disputes without affecting the rail services will increase trust for a reliable service.

Research shows that for return journeys in the UK of at least 50 miles, traveling by train may prove to be faster. However, in the majority of the case studies, traveling by car proved to be cheaper with savings of up to £158 for a journey between London and Newcastle or £80.39 in savings for Glasgow-Bristol route (Hull, 2016) (Annex). This brings NR the opportunity to decrease fare costs and aim to secure an increase in the passenger demand.

Threats (external)

NR's reputation is often affected by poor service disruptions caused by TOC i.e. cancelled or delayed services, some TOCs have setup online refund systems to automatically facilitate refunds for delays. (Great Western Railway, 2016).

Bus operating companies benefit from timetable flexibility, ease of access with road coverage and governmental Low Carbon Emission incentives (Gov.uk, 2015). There is no entry barrier to become a bus operating company, with over 320 companies registered in 2015.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Training, research and development

The research shows a substantial difference between the number of employees - 35,000 (National Audit Office, 2015) and the overall number of staff engaged with Network Rail - 80,000 (Network Rail, 2013).

Given the uncertainty induced by the Brexit referendum (Thomas, 2016) (Annex 24) and with planned long-term projects such as HS2, the paper suggests setting up initiatives aiming to recruit, train and employ using development centres and colleges across UK.

The objective is to provide NR with strategic access to the labour market (Bratton and Gold, 2003), by creating long term apprenticeship programmes, through academic institutions, whilst integrating elements of the NR Human Resource ("HR") culture and HR Strategy (Huslid, 1995) throughout the course portfolio.

The business has tested the models at Westwood Development Centre (Jaga Heating, 2015) and will expand by 2019 with National High Speed Rail College (B-ham, Doncaster) (Rail Technology Magazine, 2016). However programmes are minimum 3 years and are concentrated into a single point, away from the City or other rarely populated towns such as London, Birmingham, Manchester, Cardiff, etc.

Increasing the portfolio of programmes to offer 1, 2-years fast track apprenticeships or BEng modules (London South Bank University, 2016), (Annex 25) and by increasing the number of college or universities in partnership, will enable NR to provide ability, motivation and opportunity, which Harrison (2005) believes will lead to an increased number of candidates with high retention rates.

Civil engineering works

NR runs 5-year control periods every 5 years (Network Rail, 2014), using Project Management methodologies which involve multiple types of reviews, meaning NR can run multiple smaller projects (<1yr each), instead of large projects (8+yrs).

Whilst doing so the business may run a number of Lessons Learned reviews throughout the programme, and will be able to learn from multiple project bidding sessions, construction challenges and closeout procedures during the same control period.

When transferring the findings across the entire programme, this will substantially improve the quality of projects and mitigate against possession overruns and financial penalties.

Centralised independent refund system

In order to maintain customer fidelity despite service failures, the paper recommends an independent automated system integrated with all TOCs to facilitate refunds on fares paid for failed or delayed services.

Whilst at the moment some TOCs have refund facilities on their websites, their systems is automated and not uniformly implemented across UK.

Joint exercise between key stakeholders

The paper recommends NR to initiate a different approach to tackle customer dissatisfaction, with respect to failed services, TOCs strikes and Government stance on Trade Unions (Chakrabortty, 2016).

The recommendation is that NR engages and maintains joint dialog with all TOCs, RMT ("National Union of Rail, Maritime and Transport Work"), DfT ("Department of Transport") to create an action plan to avoid service disruption.

The overall outcome will lead to service improvements using existing infrastructure, which will increase customer's level of insurance which will make possible a double increase in the demand, forecasted by ORR by 2041.

REFERENCES

- Almodovar, M. and Garcia-Rodenas, R. (2011) On-line reschedule optimization for passenger railways in case of emergencies, Ciudad Real: Elsevier Ltd.
- biggest-single-source-of-new-jobs-in-uk-infrastructure (Accessed: 6/Dec/2016).
- Chakrabortty, A. (2016) Southern is a story of rail failure. But the real agenda is to crush the unions, Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/jul/19/southern-rail-failure-crush-unions (Accessed: 1/Dec/2016).
- Charlie Bibby (2016) Traffic congestion: is London running out of road?, Available at: https:// www.ft.com/content/40774fc6-76b5-11e6-bf48-b372cdb1043a (Accessed: 1/Nov/2016).
- Crown (2015) Competition in passenger rail services in Great Britain A discussion document for consultation, London: Competition & Markets Authority.
- Department for Communities (2015) Application for Listed Building Consent for Alterations, Extension or Demolition of a Listed Building, London: Planningportal.co.uk.
- Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2015) Population Trends, Available at: http:// www.un.org/en/development/desa/ population/theme/trends/index.shtml (Accessed: 28/Nov/ 2016).
- Department of Transport (2011) Stations in England and Wales, Available at: https://www.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3188/ Stations_in_England_and_Wales.pdf (Accessed: 1/Dec/2016).
- Department of Transport (2014) 'Network Rail framework agreement'
- Dodgson, M., Gann, D., MacAulay, S., Davies, A. (2014) Innovation strategy in new transportation systems: The case of Crossrail, London: Imperial College London.
- Gov.uk (2015) List of bus operators claiming Bus Service Operators Grant Smartcard, Automatic Vehicle Location or Low Carbon Emission incentives, Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/199169/list-of-English-bus-operators.pdf (Accessed: 2/Dec/2016).
- Great Western Railway (2016) Delay compensation, Available at: https://www.gwr.com/help-and-support/refunds-and-compensation/delay-compensation (Accessed: 2/Dec/2016).
- Harrison, R. (2005) Learning and development, 4 edn., London: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development, p 99.
- Hull, R (2016) Road or rail? It's £160 cheaper to drive from London to Newcastle and back as low petrol prices gap rising train ticket costs Read more: http://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/ cars/article-3393887/Road-rail-s-160-cheaper-drive-London-Newcastle-low-petrol-prices-gaprising-train-ticket-costs.html, Available at: http://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/cars/ article-3393887/Road-rail-s-160-cheaper-drive-London-Newcastle-low-petrol-prices-gaprising-train-ticket-costs.html, Available at: http://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/cars/ article-3393887/Road-rail-s-160-cheaper-drive-London-Newcastle-low-petrol-prices-gap-risingtrain-ticket-costs.html (Accessed: 1/Dec/2016).
- Huslid, M. (1995) The impact of human resource management practices on turnover productivity and corporate financial performance, Academy of Management, Vol 38, p 635-872.
- Inrix (2016) LONDON CONGESTION TRENDS, London: Inrix.
- Jaga Heating (2015) Network Rail Westwood Development Centre, Coventry, Available at: http:// www.buildingcentre.co.uk/case_study/network-rail-westwood-development-centre-coventry (Accessed: 4/Dec/2016).
- Jay Saw (2015) Rail industry survey: Major challenges facing rail operators, maintainers & owners and the role of ICT, Newcastle upon tyne: Nomad Digital.
- Keating, K., Pettit, A. and Rose S. (2015) Cost estimation for habitat creation summary of evidence, Bristol: Environment Agency.
- London South Bank University (2016) Transport Engineering and Planning MSc, Available at: http://www.lsbu.ac.uk/courses/course-finder/transport-engineering-planning-msc (Accessed: 1/ Dec/2016).
- Louise Butcher (2016) Rail electrification, London: House of Commons.
- Marti-Henneberg, J. (2014) Attracting travellers to the high-speed train: a methodology for comparing potential demand between stations, Lleida: Department of Geography and Sociology.
- Michael E. (1985) Competitive Advantage: Creating and Sustaining Superior Performance, New York: Simon and Schuster.

- National Audit Office (2015) A Short Guide to Network Rail, nao.gsi.gov.uk.
- National Audit Offices (2006) The supply of signalling services to Network Rail market study, NAO archives: National Audit Offices.UK Trade and Investment (2014) The UK Rail Sector, ukti.gov.uk.
- Network Rail (2011) Access for All, Available at: http://www.networkrail.co.uk/improvements/ access-for-all/ (Accessed: 1/Dec/2016).
- Network Rail (2011) SUPPLIER QUALITY ASSURANCE REQUIREMENTS, Networkrail.co.uk: Network Rail.
- Network Rail (2013) 2012/13 Sustainability Update, Networkrail.co.uk: Network Rail.
- Network Rail (2013) Network Rail A better railway for a better Britain, The UK Rail Sector, Network Rail.
- Network Rail (2014) Annual report and accounts 2014, London: Network Rail.
- Network Rail (2014) Control Period 5 Delivery Plan, Available at: http://www.networkrail.co.uk/ publications/delivery-plans/control-period-5/cp5-delivery-plan/ (Accessed: 1/Dec/2016).
- Network Rail (2014) Our governance structure, Available at: https://www.networkrail.co.uk/about-us/governance/ (Accessed: 1/Dec/2016).
- Network Rail (2015) Climate change, adaptation report, Networkrail.co.uk: Network Rail.
- Network Rail (2015) Delivering a better railway for a better Britain: our plans for 2014-2019, Better Railway: Network Rail.
- Network Rail (2015) Electrification, Available at: http://www.networkrail.co.uk/aspx/12273.aspx (Accessed: 2/Dec/2016).
- Network Rail (2015) Meeting the capacity challenge: The case for new lines, London: New Lines Programme, Network Rail.
- Network Rail (2015) Meeting the capacity challenge: The case for new lines, Network Rail.
- Nicholson, G. L., Kirkwood, D., Roberts, C. and Schmid, Felix (2015) Benchmarking and evaluation of railway operations performance, Birmingham: Birmingham Centre for Railway Research and Education.
- Office of Rail Regulation (2013) Opportunities & challenges for the railway ORR's long-term regulatory statement, London: Office of Rail Regulation.
- Rail Konsult (2012) Efficient Expenditure Benchmarking of Network Rail against North American Railroads, London: Rail Konsult.
- Rail Technology Magazine (2016) HS2 The biggest single source of new jobs in UK infrastructure, Available at: http://www.railtechnologymagazine.com/The-Last-Word/hs2--the-
- Rail Technology Magazine (2016) Network Rail to release land for 12,000 new homes by 2020, Available at: http:// www.railtechnologymagazine.com/Rail-News/network-rail-to-release-landfor-12000-new-homes-by-2020 (Accessed: 27/Nov/ 2016).
- Railway Gazette (2001) BHP breaks its own 'heaviest train' record, Available at: http:// www.railwaygazette.com/news/single- view/view/bhp-breaks-its-own-39heaviest-train39record.html (Accessed: 20/Nov/2016).
- Sharps, D. F. and Sharps, I. F. (2010) Environmental Noise and Vibration, Sittingbourne: swale.gov.uk.
- Stephen Moore (2015) Network Rail escapes fine for Paddington and King's Cross Christmas delays, Available at: http:// www.hamhigh.co.uk/news/ network_rail_escapes_fine_for_paddington_and_king_s_cross_christmas_delays_1_3954437 (Accessed: 28/Nov/2016).
- Steven Swinford (2016) Theresa May seeking transitional Brexit deal to avoid 'cliff edge', Available at: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/11/21/theresa-may-cbi-corporation-tax-brexit-live/ (Accessed: 1/Dec/2016).
- Thomas, S (2016) How could Brexit affect the rail sector?, Available at: http:// www.railtechnologymagazine.com/Rail-Industry-Focus-/how-could-brexit-affect-the-rail-sector (Accessed: 21/6/2016).

ANNEXES